



ISSN 2249 - 9784 Volume 10, No. 02 April - June, 2020

UDDPARB Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology

> Official Journal of Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology



IJOPARB Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology

Vol. 10 | No. 02 | April - June, 2020 | ISSN 2249-9784





Official Journal of INDIAN SOCIETY OF PERINATOLOGY AND REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY (ISOPARB)



Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology

Estd. 1978

(Reg No. 71 of 1978-1979 under the Societies Registration Act 21 of 1860)

Executive Committee (2018-2019)

President	Dr Suchitra N. Pandit	09820416474
Secretary General	Dr Meena Samant	09334105945
Immediate Past President	Dr Milind R. Shah	09822096280
Editor-in-Chief	Dr Hiralal Konar	09433033225
Vice Presidents	Dr Arup Kumar Majhi	
	Dr Narayan Jana	
	Dr Gangadhar Sahoo	
	Dr Shanti H. K. Singh	
Treasurer	Dr Pragya Mishra Chaudhary	09835273668
Communicator	Dr Supriya Jaiswal	09431207284

Zonal Chairpersons

East Zone	Dr Ojaswani Patel
West Zone	Dr Parul Kotdawala
North Zone	Dr Anjoo Agarwal
South Zone	Dr Rooma Singh

Executive Members

Patna	Dr Abha Rani Singh
Patna	Dr Amita Singh
Ranchi	Dr Archana Kumari
Kolkata	Dr Biswajyoti Guha
Chennai	Dr Lakshmi Ravindran
New Delhi	Dr Mala Srivastava
Lucknow	Dr Rajul Tyagi
Patna	Dr Rita Kumari Jha
Hyderabad	Dr S. Madhumathi
Kolkata	Dr Sukumar Barik
Chennai	Dr Vijay Lakshmi Seshadri
Lucknow	Dr Yashodhara Pradeep

Head Office:

IMA Building, Dr A. K. N. Sinha Path, South East Gandhi Maidan, Patna 800004 Web: www.isoparb.org

Secretary General's Office

Dr Meena Samant, Secretary General, ISOPARB 21/D, Road No 10, Rajendranagar, Patna - 800016 Phone: +91 93341 05945 | E-mail: meenasamant@rediffmail.com



Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology

CD 55, Sector I, Salt Lake City, Kolkata 700 064 E-mail: ijoparb1978@gmail.com

ISSN 2249-9784 RNI No. WB ENG/2010/39056

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editor-in-Chief

Kolkata Dr Hiralal Konar

Emeritus Editor

Kolkata Dr Arup Kumar Majhi

Editorial Advisory Board

Kolkata	Dr Gita Ganguly Mukherji
Jamshedpur	Dr A K Debdas
Mumbai	Dr Bandana Walvekar
New Delhi	Dr Sunita Mittal
Cuttack	Dr S N Tripathy
Kolkata	Dr Sudip Chakravarti

Associate Editors

Kolkata Dr Picklu Chaudhuri Dr Gita Basu Banerjee Dr Sukumar Barik Dr Subrata Lal Seal

Joint Editors

Kolkata	Dr Sajal Datta
Kolkata	Dr Ramprasad Dey
Kolkata	Dr Pallab Kumar Mistr
Kolkata	Dr Sudhir Adhikari

Members of Editorial Board

Patna	Dr Abharani Sinha
Kolkata	Dr Nalini Arora
Kolkata	Dr Mamtaz Sanghamita
Bengaluru	Dr Jayanthi
Kolkata	Dr Aftabuddin Mondal
Kolkata	Dr Shyamal Banerjee
Kolkata	Dr Rathindra Nath Roy

Members of Editorial Board

Dr Anju Agarwal
Dr Sampat Kumari
Dr Swaraj Lakshmi
Dr Chaitali Datta Ray
Dr Pranoy Nath
Dr Somajita Chakraborty
Dr Sebanti Goswami
Dr Sayed Habeebullah
Dr Arindam Halder
Dr Abraham Pedicyle

Members of National Advisory Board

	•
Kolkata	Dr Narayan Jana
Delhi	Dr Asoke Kumar
Kerala	Dr Ajith S
Cochin	Dr V P Paily
Cuttack	Dr P C Mahapatra
Kolkata	Dr Kusagradhi Ghosh
Aurangabad	Dr S Gadappa
Bengaluru	Dr Shila Mane
Imphal	Dr R L Singh
Dibrugarh	Dr Pranay Phukan
Lucknow	Dr Vinita Das
Burla, Odhisa	Dr Gangadhar Sahoo

Members of International Advisory Board

Kolkata	Dr B N Chakravarty
UK	Dr S Arulkumaran
Japan	Dr Kiyoko Kato
Korea	Dr Joong Shin Park
Malaysia	Dr Ravi Chandran
Sri Lanka	Dr Rohana Haththotuwa
Nepal	Dr Gehanath Baral
Bangladesh	Dr Firoza Begum

Ex-Officio Members

President, ISOPARB Dr Suchitra N Pandit Secretary General, ISOPARB Dr Meena Samant

Editorial Office:

CD-55, Salt Lake City Sector-I, Kolkata 700064 Email: ijoparb1978@gmail.com

Contents

Editor's Choice
Rupture of Uterus – the Changing Trends
Review Article - Obstetrics
Second Stage Cesarean Section
Original Article : Obstetrics
Effect of Oral L-Arginine on Low Amniotic Fluid Volume
Case Report - Obstetrics
A Rare Case of Spontaneous Prelabour Fundal Rupture of Unscarred Uterus in a Multigravida at 34 Weeks of Pregnancy
Clinical Article - Gynecology
Etiological Factors of Irregular Periods in Young Women in aSemi Urban Tertiary Care Hospital of West Bengal, IndiaSukumar Barik, Farheen Faruque
Case Report : Gynecology
Spontaneous First Trimester Anterior Uterine Rupture in a Multiparous Woman with Scarred Uterus 64 Swayamsiddha Mohanty, Radhakanta Panigrahi, Ramanjamma Madagani, Maya Padhi
OBITUARY: Dr. Ajit Chamanlal Mehta 68
Instruction to Authors

Disclaimer: The Editor/Publisher disclaims any responsibility or legal liability for statements made and opinions or views expressed by the author(s) and contributors and any claims made by the advertisers.

© IJOPARB. All rights reserved. No part of this publication should be reproduced or stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form, by any means: electronic, mechanical or photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without written permission from Editors or Publishers.

Editor's Choice

Rupture of Uterus – the Changing Trends

Rupture of uterus is a life threatening obstetric complication. It carries a high rate of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality. Overall incidence of rupture of uterus has been currently quoted ranging between 1 in 1146 (0.07%) and 1 in 200 (0.5%) pregnancies depending upon the quality of maternal care during the antenatal and the intrapartum period.

In low and middle income countries uterine rupture following prolonged and obstructed labor, multiparity are common. Author had the experience of managing such cases years back, while working as a registrar in one rural medical college in this state of West Bengal. One such study covering the period 1977-1986 revealed, 13.7% of all maternal deaths were due to rupture uterus.¹ Another such subsequent study, revealed a significant reduction the incidence of rupture uterus to 2.2%.²

In India, intervention with Janani Sishu Suraksha Karyakram (JSSK), for safe motherhood under the umbrella of National Health Mission (NHM), has brought a significant change. The presence of a skilled birth attendant at every labour, early referral, Nischay Jan (free transport), institutional delivery and partographic monitoring of labor are the important measures to lower the incidence of rupture uterus drastically. Impact of this combined approach in comprehensive routine and emergency obstetric care, is reflected by the significant reduction in maternal deaths in India.

Spontaneous uterine rupture is extremely rare. The estimated incidence is 1 in 8000 to 1 in 15000,³ Lower segment cesarean scar rupture is observed in $\leq 1\%$ of cases. Uterine rupture following prior uterine

surgery (myomectomy), uterine malformation are relatively uncommon. Rupture of a gravid uterine horn of a bicornuate uterus with multiple pregnancies is extremely uncommon. Such type of uterine rupture has not been observed in the literature. Author's experience of managing such a case has been reported.⁴

Spontaneous rupture is usually complete and it involves the upper segment. Spontaneous disruption of the uterus in the midline during pregnancy has been reported. It is thought to be due to the weakness of the area of lateral fusion of the Mullerian ducts. Rupture of a gravid unicornuate uterus, has been reported, it is uncommon though. Iatrogenic rupture is rare again, in these days of obstetric practice.

Pregnancy in the cesarean scar and its rupture in the first trimester of pregnancy is a new entrant to the obstetric complications. Cesarean scar pregnancy comprises upto 6% of such cases in women with prior history of cesarean delivery. It was once thought to be the rarest complication. With rising incidence of cesarean delivery, cesarean scar pregnancy is quoted to be about 0.15% in women with a history of prior cesarean delivery. Different studies have quoted the incidence with a range from 1 in 1800 pregnancies to 1 in 2226 of all pregnancies.⁵

The mechanism of cesarean scar pregnancy is thought to be due to invasion of the trophoblasts through the microtubular tract of the scar tissue of prior cesarean section. The decidua over the scar tissue is either partially developed or may be absent at places. The trophoblasts invade the scar as well as the myometrial tissues, if it is present.



Presentation of a patient with cesarean scar pregnancy vary widely depending upon the degree of trophoblast invasion to the myomectum or the scar. There may be painless bleeding in the first trimester of pregnancy mimicking a miscarriage problem. In a worse situation, invasion may go up to the bladder. Pregnancy may grow towards the uterine cavity. In that situation, patient may remain asymptomatic and continue the pregnancy till term and deliver a live born baby.

Severe pain with or without profuse bleeding is due to scar rupture of the uterus. Cesarean scar pregnancy is often referred to as cesarean scar ectopic pregnancy. Interestingly, implantation occurs inside the uterus and above the internal os and it is not an ectopic pregnancy. Diagnosis of cesarean scar pregnancy is made by the way of exclusion of intrauterine, endocervical and a tubal pregnancy. Diagnosis is made mostly by using transvaginal sonography (TVS). Sensitivity of TVS to the diagnosis is of 86%.⁵

The myometrium between the gestation sac and the urinary bladder may be very thin or even absent. Invasion of the trophoblasts outwards often lead to rupture of the uterus. The bleeding may be life threatening. Color Doppler USG study is useful to diagnose the invasion of the bladder. MRI is an adjunct to sonography to confirm the diagnosis of bladder invasion. MRI can show the thinning out of myometrium between the gestational sac and the bladder.

Complications of cesarean scar pregnancy are many and at times may be life threatening. When gestational

sac has no fetal pole, it may end in missed abortion or pregnancy failure. When the pregnancy continues, risk of placenta previa and its complications are to be kept in mind. Morbid adherent placenta is a known complication. Invasion and stretching of the scar, ends in rupture of the uterus with massive hemorrhage.

Majority of the patients that present with pain and hemorrhage are treated with laparotomy or laparoscopy. Hysterectomy may be a life-saving surgery. It is done in cases with uterine rupture, or placenta accreta for control of hemorrhage.

Uterine preserving surgery could be done with termination of the pregnancy safely. Medical management includes ultrasound guided local injection of methotrexate (MTX) or KCL. Laparoscopic or hysteroscopic resection of the gestational sac has been reported.⁶ Hysteroscopic surgical excision were associated with less complications. Uterine artery embolization has been done to reduce the risk of bleeding. Patients with medical or conservative surgical management need to be followed up with serum β hCG for complete regression of trophoblastic activities.

This issue of IJOPARB has two case reports on rupture of uterus. One in the first trimester with a scarred uterus (p.64) and the other with spontaneous rupture of the fundus, in the third trimester. (p.57) These are uncommon. Going through these two case reports, I believe all of us would be benefitted.

Prof (Dr) Hiralal Konar, Editor-in-Chief MBBS (Cal), MD (PGI), DNB, MNAMS, FACS (USA) FRCOG (London) Member: Oncology Committee of AOFOG FOGSI Representative to Asia Oceania Federation of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (AOFOG, 2018-2019) Chairman, Indian College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (ICOG), 2013

Prof. & Head, Dept. OB-Gyn Agartala Govt Medical College and G B Pant Hospital, Tripura

REFERENCES

- Konar Hiralal, Das GK. : Rural obstetrics a neglected tragedy: Journal of Indian medical ssociation, 1991: 89: 268-269.
- Konar Hiralal, Chakraborty AB. Maternal mortality: a FOGSI study. J Obstet Gynec India: 2013; 63(2):88-95.
- Miller DA, Goodwin TM, Ghelman RP. Intrapartum rupture of unscarred uterus. ObstetGynecol; 1997: 89: 671-673.
- 4. Konar H, De Banerjee M, Mukherjee S: Diagnostic dielemma, Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology, 2007
- 5. Seow KM, Huang Lou, Lin YH, et al. Cesarean scar pregnancy: issues in management. Ultrasound ObstetGynecol; 2004:23:247-253.
- 6. Rotas MA, Heberman S, Levgur M. Cesarean scar ectopic pregnancies: etiology, diagnosis and management. Obstet Gynecol, 2006; 107: 1373-1381.

Review Article - Obstetrics

Second Stage Cesarean Section

Anjali Mantri,¹ Ashok Kumar²

Cesarean deliveries done in second stage of labor account for 1/4th of all primary Cesarean sections.¹ The incidence of second stage Cesarean sections is more in developing countries, where babies are delivered at home by traditional birth attendants and where the mothers report to hospital late in labor, when the traditional birth attendants fail in their endeavours.

Cesarean sections done at full cervical dilatation with impacted fetal heads are technically difficult and they are associated with an increased incidence of maternal and fetal morbidities. Extraction of the impacted fetal head may be done by 'push method', i.e. pushing through the vagina or by "pull method", i.e. reverse breech technique. Various studies^{2,3} have compared both these methods. However, both these methods are associated with an increased rate of maternal morbidity in the form of uterine extensions, postpartum hemorrhage, and fever.^{4,5} Patwardhan technique is a unique technique which is used for delivering babies in second stage Cesarean sections.⁶

Cesarean delivery in second stage of labor:

Currently, obstetric trainers perform most of the second stage trials of instrumental delivery. A recent UK study found that decisions made by consultant obstetric staff are more important in determining whether a second stage Cesarean section is optimum

Corresponding author email: ash64kr@yahoo.com

IJOPARB | Vol. 10 | No. 02 | Apr-Jun 2020

method of delivery for women with delay in advanced labor.⁸ According to RCOG audit figures, about 35% of Cesareans for singleton pregnancies are performed because of failure to progress in labor, of which a quarter occur at full cervical dilatation.⁹

In 55 % of these cases, no attempt was made to achieve a vaginal birth with either forceps or ventouse. In those births where instrumental delivery was attempted, the audit noted a "failed" rate of 35% for ventouse and 2% for forceps.⁹ Breech and twin deliveries can also lead to second stage Cesareans. Planned delivery is safer than vaginal birth for a term breech fetus with respect to immediate neonatal outcomes.¹⁰ The place of emergency Cesarean is less clear when a mother presents in labour and reaches full cervical dilation with an unexpected breech presentation. In the absence of an experienced and skillful obstetrician to perform assisted vaginal breech delivery, women are advised to undergo an emergency second stage Cesarean.

According to a study by Anusha et al out of 90 Cesarean sections 30 were performed in second stage and 60 in first stage.¹¹: Indications of Cesarean section are depicted in [Table 1].

Table 1: Indications of Cesarean Section in Second Stage

SECOND STAGE
Arrest of descent-malposition 76.7%
Arrest of descent-CPD 20%
Failed vacuum 3.3%

Cesarean section in the second stage of labor took significantly longer and was associated with more frequent post-operative pyrexia. There were more neonatal admissions. Hypoxic ischemic

Resident, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Maulana Azad Medical College & Lok Nayak Hospital, New Delhi

^{2.} MD, PhD, Director Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Maulana Azad Medical College & Lok Nayak Hospital, New Delhi

encephalopathy was more frequent in infants following second stage Cesarean section as was sub aponeurotic hemorrhage.¹²

Despite much discussion of the increase in elective Cesarean rates over the past 20 years,¹³ little attention has been paid to the rise in second stage Cesarean section rates. The maternal risks of second stage Cesarean include major hemorrhage, longer hospital stay, greater risk of bladder trauma, and extension of tears of the uterine angle leading to broad ligament hematoma.¹⁴ Although second stage Cesarean section is sometimes appropriate, many could be prevented by the attendance of a more skilled obstetrician.

In a study done by Asicioglu et al, maternal and neonatal outcomes were compared between second stage and first stage Cesarean sections which showed results as depicted in Table 2:¹⁵

Table 2:	Comparison of Outcomes in Second and First
	Stage Cesareans

-	Second stage of labour	First stage of labour
Labour Characteristics		
Skin incision to delivery time (min)	7.45±2.46	4.18±1.74
Total operation time (min)	48.63±3.21	36.78±2.72
Indication for Cesarean		
Previous CS	15.1%	15.2%
Dystocia	65.1%	37.6%
Fetal distress	7%	25%
Malpresentation	7.7%	6.1%
Others	5%	16.1%
Maternal outcomes		
Hospital stay (days)	2.48±.82	2.09±0.35
Estimated blood loss (ml)	914.18±91	701.51±52
Blood loss (> 1 litre)	37.5%	5.4%
Blood transfusion	10%	2.9%
Intraoperative complications	25.5%	6%
Injury of Uterine vessels	4.3%	0.7%
Unintended extension	13%	3.4%
Bladder Injury	2.4%	0.3%
Cervical lacerations	1.6%	0.4%
Hysterectomy	0.4%	0.001%
Wound infection	5.9%	5.4%
Postpartum endometritis	6.3%	5.3%
Maternal death	0.03%	0
Neonatal outcomes		
Birth weight (g)	3272±331	3077±388
5 min Apgar <=3	3.2%	0.2%

	Second stage of labour	First stage of labour
Septicaemia	2.8%	0.4%
Fetal injury	2.3%	0.1%
NICU admission	5%	0.8%
Neonatal death	1.3%	0.003%

Methods of delivery of fetal head during second stage Cesarean section

The fetal head is delivered as routine cephalic extraction but with the difficulty encountered in reaching below the impacted head deep in pelvis and thinned out and stretched lower uterine segment. This may result in extension of incision laterally or downwards and may involve uterine vessels, the ureter or trauma to fetal head.¹⁶

The five most reported important techniques for safe delivery were:

- High uterine incision
- Assistance to push fetal head transvaginally
- Correct flexion of fetal head
- Determine fetal position prior to starting
- Disimpaction of the fetal head in the caudal direction prior to elevation

'The Push technique'

Similar to the traditional cephalic delivery in a routine Cesarean section, but with the difference that the fetal head is extracted following pushing through the vagina assisted from below by another person and is hence referred to as the push method.²

The oldest procedure of abdomino-vaginal delivery in the presence of an impacted fetal head was described during the early 1980s as a modified Cesarean section,17 the wedged fetal head was pushed by an assistant's hand introduced through the vagina. On the other hand, Lippert^{18,19} suggested that the surgeon avoids further deflexion of head with one hand in the uterus and the other hand in the vagina pushes the head up. It was seen that the fetal head gets compressed between the surgeon's hand and the pelvic bones during manipulations combined with thinning of LUS because of prolonged labor results in lateral extension of a transverse lower uterine segment incision and involves laceration of uterine vessels.²⁰ A deeply impacted fetal head leads to a lack of space between the bony pelvis, pelvic muscles, and the fetal head, making it difficult for the surgeon to insert a hand in order to dislodge it from the pelvis.

Another modification of the push technique was described by Landesman et al¹⁷ The abdominovaginal delivery was carried out in modified lithotomy positions, the legs abducted in either the 'Whitmore' or the 'frog' position, and with a cupped hand in the vagina gently lifted through the uterine incision.

'Reverse Breech Extraction' or the 'Pull technique'

In the reverse breech extraction, the fetus in cephalic presentation is extended through the uterine incision by the podalic pole.^{2,16} In this method after opening the uterus, the surgeon introduces a hand through the uterine incision towards the upper segment, grasps both feet and gently pulls the fetus up to extract it through the uterine incision.²¹

In simple terms, this maneuverer entails grasping the fetal feet, performing a semi version and delivering the fetus by total breech extraction.²² Kafali²⁰ described a low vertical uterine incision for fetal extraction compared to low transverse incision as it provided more space for manipulation as well as its safety as i did not lead to lateral extensions of uterine incision In most of the circumstances, the fetal feet can b easily reached through a transverse uterine incision An inverted T or J shaped incision is not a prerequisit of this method,²³ which is usually used in situation of extreme difficulties in fetal extraction. An upward extension of segment incision at one of the lateral end leads to the J shaped incision whereas an inverted 7 is an extension in the center of the lower segmen flap of uterine incision.^{24,25} While dis-impacting fetal head, fetal trauma can be prevented by avoiding hyperextension of fetal cervical spine and forceful pull on neck.

The Patwardhan technique (Shoulders first method)

This technique was first described by Dr. B.D. Patwardhan.²⁶ In case of occipito-transverse or occipito – anterior positions with the head deeply impacted in the pelvis, an incision is made in the LUS, at the level of anterior shoulder which is then delivered out. The posterior shoulder is also delivered with gentle traction on this shoulder. Now the fingers are locked through both the axillae and with gentle

IJOPARB | Vol. 10 | No. 02 | Apr-Jun 2020

traction aided by fundal pressure by an assistant, the body of the fetus is brought out of the incision, the fetal head is then gently lifted out of the pelvis. When the fetus in occipito- posterior position after delivering the anterior shoulder as described earlier, the hand is intended into the uterus upto fundus and a foot is grasped. Gentle traction on this foot along with fundal pressure, the body of the fetus is extracted out followed by head.

Methods of delivery for various positions of baby in utero are depicted in [Box 1].

in utero:
 Shoulders First' Patwardhan Maneuver: for back anterior position Both shoulders delivered first Trunk is delivered by flexion Both legs delivered Head lifted out last
Modified Maneuver: for occipito transverse positions • Anterior shoulder delivered first • Posterior shoulder delivered next • Trunk is delivered by flexion • Both legs delivered • Head lifted out last
Modified Maneuver: for occipito posterior (back posterior) position: • Both legs delivered first • Trunk is delivered by flexion at thoraco-lumbar region • Both shoulders delivered next • Head lifted out last
Modified Maneuver: for occipito posterior (back posterior) position: • One side shoulder and arm delivered first • Same side leg delivered next • Opposite side leg delivered next • Trunk delivered by flexion • Other shoulder and arm delivered next • Head lifted out last

Comparison of push and pull method in delivery of head is depicted in [Table 3]:

 Table 3:
 Comparison of Push Method and Pull Method for Delivery of Head

Push Method	Pull Method
Longer operation time	Less operation time
Incision extension [8 times more] Lateral > vaginal	Less extension
Infections are more [like UTI, endometritis, Febrile morbidity]	Infections are less
Wound infection more common	Wound infection less common
Postpartum fever [8.6%]	Postpartum fever [8.1%]
Need for blood transfusion higher	Need for blood transfusion lesser
Blood loss higher Apgar score was high	Blood loss lesser

The 'Fetal Disimpacting System' and 'Fetal Pillow'

The fetal disimpacting system is manufactured by Safe Obstetrics Systems UK. It has a foldable base plate that is 11 cm long and 4.5 cm wide, with a balloon attached to it which is inserted below the fetal head vaginally, at the time of inserting a foley catheter before the Cesarean. Just before making the uterine incision an assistant inflates the balloon with 180 ml of saline. This straightens the base plate which opens to become flat against the pelvic floor. The inflated balloon gently elevates the fetal head 3-4 cm from its original position, making it easier to deliver. This balloon is deflated once delivery is achieved, and the device is gently pulled out using the attached tubing or by locking a finger into the base plate.²⁷

Conclusion

Delivery of baby in second stage via Cesarean section has more maternal and neonatal complications as compared to Cesarean done in first stage of labor. Timely decision-making regarding need for Cesarean, timely judgement and expertise in doing Cesarean reduces many intraoperative and postoperative maternal and neonatal complications. Patwardhan technique is the most opted method of delivery of deeply impacted head which increases the ease of delivery and has less complications but depends on expertise. Pull method has less complications than push method but is less preferred than Patwardhan technique.

REFERENCES

- Evaluation of Cesarean delivery. The American College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists Women's Health Care Physicians. Washington, DC 20090-6920. ACOG; 2000.
- Levy R, Chernomoretz T, Appleman Z et al. Head pushing versus reverse breech extraction in cases of impacted fetal head during Cesarean section.Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2005; 121:24-26.
- 3. Fasubaa OB, Ezechi OC, Orji EO et al. Delivery of the impacted head of the fetus at Cesarean section after prolonged obstructed labour:a randomised comparative study of two methods. J Obstet Gynecol 2002; 22:375-378.
- Sung JF, Daniels KI, Brodzinsky L et al. Cesarean delivery outcomes after a prolonged second stage of labor. AM J of Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 197(3): 306. e1-5.
- 5. Alexander JM, Leveno KJ, Rouse DJ et al.Comparison of maternal and infant outcomes from primary Cesarean delivery during the second compared with first stage of labor. Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 109: 917-921.
- 6. Patwardhan BD Motashaw ND. Cesarean section. J Obstet Gynecol India. 1957; 8: 1-15.

- Khosla AH, Dahiya K, Sangwan K et al. Cesarean section in a wedged head. Ind J Med Science. 2003; 57(50): 187-191.
- 8. Olah KS,Gee H.Reversal of the decision for Cesarean section in the second stage of labor on the basis of consultant vaginal assessment. J Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 25:115-116.
- 9. Thomas J, Paranjothy S Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists Clinical Effectiveness Support Unit. National Sentinel Cesarean section Audit Report. RCOG Press; 2001.
- Hannah ME, Hannah WJ, Hewson SA et al.Planned Cesarean section versus planned vaginal birth for breech presentation at term:a randomised multicentre trial.Term breech trial Collaborative Group. Lancet 2000; 356: 1375-1383.
- 11. Anusha SR,Deepak AV,Jacob KJ et al.Maternal and neonata outcome in second stage Cesarean section versus first stage:a comparative study.Int J Reprod Contracept Obstet Gynecol. 2018; 7(11): 4640-4645.
- 12. Cebekulu L, Buchmann EJ. Complications associated with Cesarean section in second stage of labor.Int J Obstet Gynecol. 2006; 95(2): 110-114.
- 13. Black C, Kaye JA, Jick H. Cesarean delivery in the United Kingdom:time trends in the general practice research database. Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 106:151-5.

- 14. Allen VM, O'Connell CM, Baskett TF. Maternal and perinatal morbidity of Cesarean delivery at full cervical dilatation compared with Cesarean delivery in the first stage of labor. Br J Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 112: 986-990.
- Asicioglu O,Gungorduk OC,Ark C et al.Second stage vs first stage Cesarean delivery: Comparison of maternal and perinatal outcomes. J Obstet Gynecol. 2014; 34: 598-604.
- 16. Chopra S, Bagga R, Keepanasseril A, Jain V, Kalra J et al. Disengagement of the Deeply Engaged Fetal head during Cesarean section in advanced labor: Conventional method versus Reverse breech extraction. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2009; 88: 1163-1166.
- 17. Landesman R, Graber EA. Abdominovaginal delivery: Modification of the Cesarean operation to facilitate delivery of the impacted head. Am J Obstet and Gynecol. 1984; 148:707-710.
- Lippert TH. Bimanual delivery of the fetal head at Cesarean section with the fetal head in midcavity. Arch Gynecol. 1983; 234:59-60.
- Lippert TH. Abdominovaginal delivery in case of impacted head in Cesarean section operation. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985; 151:703.
- 20. Kafali H. Cesarean breech extraction for impacted fetal head in deep pelvis after a prolonged obstructed

labor: a Cesarean technique variation.Internet J Gynecol Obstet. 2003; 2:2.

- 21. Veisi F, Zangeneh M, Malekkhosravi S, Rezavand N. Comparison of "push" and "pull" methods for impacted fetal head extraction during Cesarean delivery. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2012; 118:4-6.
- 22. Fong YF, Arulkumaran S. Breech extraction-an alternative method of delivering a deeply engaged head at Cesarean section. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997; 56: 183-184.
- 23. Blickstein I. Difficult delivery of the impacted fetal head during Cesarean section: intraoperative disengagement. J Perinat Med. 2004; 32: 465-469.
- 24. Schwake D, Petchenkin L, Younis JS. Reverse breech extraction in cases of second stage Cesarean section.J Obstet Gynaecol. 2012; 32: 548-551.
- 25. Cunningham FGLK, Bloom SL, Hauth JC, Gilstrip LC, Wenstrom KD. Cesarean delivery and peripartum hysterectomy. Williams' Obstetrics. New York: McGraw-Hill. 2012: 587-606.
- 26. Purandare CN, Patel MA, Balsarkar G. Indian contribution to obstetrics and gynecology.J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2012; 62: 384-385.
- 27. Singh M, Varma R. Reducing complications associated with a deeply engaged head at Cesarean section:a simple instrument. Obstetrician Gynaecologist. 2008; 10: 38-41.

Effect of Oral L-Arginine on Low Amniotic Fluid Volume

Ojaswini Patel,¹ Pranati Pradhan,² Liza Bishi³

Abstract

Background: Oligohydramnous is defined as decrease in AFI. It complicate approximately 1 to 2% pregnancies. It is associated with increase operative interference and perinatal morbidity and mortility. L arginine is an essential aminoacid which increase nitric oxide which cause local vasodilatation. Hence it increases aminotic fluid in oligohydramnous and can improve pregnancy outcome.

Material & Methods: A prospective study conducted in the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology V.S.S. Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Burla involving 50 pregnant women with gestational age 28 weeks to 36 weeks diagnosed with AFI</=8 on ultrasonography, over a period of 2 years.

Conclusion: To avoid preterm labor, induction of labour and to prevent its serious consequences for the mother and newborn, therapeutic intervention is desirable to prolong the pregnancy. Keeping in mind the cost of rearing preterm baby in NICU, oral l-arginine can be used as a cheap and feasible method in resource-poor countries.

Keyward: Oligohydramnos, L arginine, Amniotic fluid index.

Background

Amniotic fluid provides a protected milieu for the growing foetus, by cushioning the foetus against mechanical and biological injury, supplying nutrients and facilitating growth of it. Decreased amniotic fluid is associated with placental insufficiency, impaired lung development in foetus and fetal growth restriction. Long-term complications of oligohydramnios are cord compression and variation in fetal heart rate during labour and increased chance of operative deliveries. Amniotic fluid volume (AFV) increases to about 800– 1000 ml at 28 week gestation, plateaus near term and

Corresponding author email: pranatipradhan2013@gmail.com

by ultrasound using amniotic fluid index (AFI) or single largest pocket (SLP). An AFI of 8 cm and above is considered normal, between 5 cm and 8 cm is borderline and <5 cm is oligohydramnios. When AFI is >25 lt is called polyhydramnios.² In chronic placental insufficiency, the fetus tries to acclimatize by redirecting blood flow to vital organs

acclimatize by redirecting blood flow to vital organs such as in reduction of available intrauterine space for adequate fetal growth. Subjected to pressure from all sides, the fetus assumes a peculiar appearance like potter facies and musculoskeletal deformities such as club foot, talipes and wry neck may be seen. Lack of movement of amniotic fluid within the tracheobronchial tree results in pulmonary hypoplasia.

declines to about 400 ml at 42 weeks.¹ The amount

of amniotic fluid (AF) is most commonly evaluated

^{1.} Asoociate Professor, VIMSAR, Burla

^{2.} Assistant Professor, VIMSAR, Burla

^{3.} O&G Specialist, CHC, Attabira

Different medical interventional methods have been tried to treat oligohydramnios such as maternal hydration both oral and intravenous, trans abdominal amnioinfusion and intrapartumamnioinfusion. A recently propagated treatment of oligohydramnios is the administration of L-arginine which has been found to be effective in cases of intrauterine growth restriction and Pregnancy Induced Hypertension. However there are very few studies where oral l-arginine was found to increase AFI. This study was done to find out the effect of L-arginine on AFI, the mode of delivery and the foetal outcome.

L-Arginine (Arg) a nutritionally essential amino acid for the fetus,³ is a precursor for synthesis of nitric oxide (NO) and polyamines in cells.⁴ L-arginine is a semi essential amino acid acting as a substrate for synthesis of NO.⁵ NO has a diverse role in obstetrics as it plays a vital role in labour, cervical ripening, preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction.⁶ L-Arginine is also reported to improve growth hormone releasing hormone secretion, and as a consequence increase in plasmatic growth hormone influencing somatic growth.⁷ It is also suggested that it may play a significant role in fetal growth by stimulating insulin secretion and as a precursor for both polyamine synthesis and NO production.⁸

Objective

To assess the effect of oral L-Arginine on amniotic fluid volume in pregnant women with low AFI (AFI</=8) after treatment. To assess the effectiveness of oral L-Arginine on fetal outcome in pregnant women with low AFI in terms of birth weight, APGAR scoring, Need for NICU admission & Perinatal mortality.

Material and Method

A prospective study was conducted in the department of obstetrics and gynaecology V.S.S Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Burla involving pregnant women with gestational age 28 weeks to 36 weeks diagnosed with AFI</=8 on ultrasonography, over a period of 2 years after getting approval from the institutional research ethics committee. Fifty cases were studied from November 2016 to October 2018

Women attending outpatient department of obstetrics and gynaecology with AFI</=8 on ultrasonography enrolled, who satisfied eligibility criteria between 28-36weeks, Singleton pregnancy, Intact membrane.

Patients diagnosed with major congenital anomaly, with PROM, already received treatment for low AFI, Multiple pregnancies,Pregnancy with chronic diseases like diabetes mellitus, renal disease,severe preeclampsia,severe IUGR at the time of presentation were excluded.

Women who fulfilled inclusion criteria who gave consent were prescribed with sachet of L-arginine containing 3 gm of active ingredient one sachet once a day mixed with 200 ml of water per orally after breakfast for varying period of 1 to 4 weeks. Follow up and repeat scan of patient were done and findings were analysed. Repeat scans evaluated the followings; Fetal weight,Amniotic fluid volume, Placental maturity. AFI value if </=5 scan repeated after 1 week, AFI is 5-7 scan repeated after 2 weeks & AFI 7-8 repeated after 3 weeks

By follow up ultrasound AFI were noted and treated accordingly. All women continue and no maternal complications due to therapeutic intervention were found. No patients were discontinued from the study because of any adverse effects. Appropriate management measures as per the standard protocol were taken in addition to the above mentioned intervention. All patients were monitored regularly with serial non-stress test (NST) and biophysical profile (BPP) till delivery. However, patients were considered for delivery if the liquor remained less or when fatal distress occurred.

Observation

Out of 50, 25 cases (50%) has AFI </=5, 23 cases (46%) has AFI 5-7 and only 2 (4%) has AFI 7-8 at the time of presentation.

 Table 1: Distribution of women according to duration of treatment with respect to gestational age at diagnosis.

Gestational age at Gestational age at diagnosis (weeks)	Duration of treatment in weeks			
	No of cases who received 1 week treatment	No. of cases who received 2 weeks treatment	No. of cases who received 3 weeks treatment	
28-30	1	2	6	
30.1-32	0	4	9	
32.1-34	1	7	9	
34.1-36	5	5	1	
Mean duration of treatment 2.36				
SD 0.54				

Table 1 shows distribution of women according to duration of treatment with respect to gestational age. Maximum no. of cases belongs to either 30.1 to 32 GA or 32.1 to 34 GA receiving 3 weeks treatment. Mean duration of treatment is 2.36 week with standard deviation 0.5456.

Gestational age at diagnosis (weeks)	Average change in AFI after treatment for 1 week	Average change in AFI after treatment for 2 weeks	Average change in AFI after treatment for 3 weeks
28-30	5.5	3.75	2.78
30.1-32	0	2.92	3.23
32.1-34	-3	1.64	2.94
34.1-36	0.46	1.08	1.9
Avg. change in AFI	2.28		
SD	0.34		

Table 2: Average change in AFI after treatment.

Table 2 shows average change in AFI with respect to GA and duration of treatment. Mean change in AFI after treatment was 2.21 with SD of 0.34.

Table 3Mean AFI change after treatment with respect to
AFI at presentation.

AFI at presentation (cm)	Mean AFIbefore treatment (cm)	Mean AFI after treatment (cm)	Mean change in AF I(cm)
=5</td <td>3.95</td> <td>5.95</td> <td>2</td>	3.95	5.95	2
5-6.9	5.8	8.34	2.54
7-8	4.8	9.9	5.1

This table shows the mean AFI change after treatment in relation to AFI at presentation. In group of women with AFI </=5, mean AFI change was 2 cm, in group with AFI 5-6.9 mean AFI change was 2.54 cm and in group with AFI 7-8 mean AFI change was 5.1cm after treatment.

Before treatment mean AFI was 4.95 cm. After treatment the mean AFI was 7.23cm.Mean increase in AFI with Larginine treatment is 2.28 cm.From 50 cases 21 cases were vaginal delivery, 28 cases were delivered by LSCS and 1case was instrumental delivery. Among 50 cases at the time of delivery in 7 cases there was meconium stained liquor.

Table 4:	Neonatal	Outcome
----------	----------	---------

Average birthweight(in grams)	2439.8
Small for gestational age(SGA)	6
APGAR Score at 5 min:-	
< 4	1
4-6	2

7-10	47
Still birth/ Neonatal death	1
NICU admission	12
Transient tachypnoea of newborn	7
Continuous positive airway pressur Ventilation	2
Invasive ventilation	1
Respiratory distress	2

Table 4 shows neonatal outcome after delivery. Average birthweight was 2439.8 +/-446gms. From 50 delivery one was still birth. Among 49 neonate 6 were SGA and 12 neonates were admitted to NICU, maximum NICU admission was due to transient tachypnoea of newborn.

Discussion

The mean AFI was 7.23 cm, and thus, an AFI increase of 2.28cm could be obtained which we presume was definitely helpful for the fetus.

The Amniotic fluid has multiple functions. Its main role is to permit fetal lung development by two-way movement of fluid into fetal bronchioles, and early severe oligohydraamnios is associated with pulmonary hypoplasia in the neonate. Amniotic fluid allows free movements of growing fetus and prevents limb contractures. It prevents adhesions between fetus and amnion and protects the fetus from mechanical injury. Reduction in amniotic fluid in labour is associated with variable amount of umbilical cord compression and fetal hypoxia.

With the easier availability of ultrasonography nowadays more cases of oligohydramnios are being identified. This helps us to be more cautious and anticipate problems especially during labor. However the need for an effective, economical, easily available treatment modality remains unmet. Maternal dehydration has been always believed to cause oligohydramnios though it cannot be coined as the cause in every case. Recently, serial ultrasound guided amnioinfusions have been tried but with varying success rates. Moreover it carries the inherent danger of fetal loss as it is an invasive procedure. L-arginine is a versatile amino acid with a wide range of biological functions. It serves as a precursor not only to proteins but also nitric oxide which has been identified as endothelium-derived relaxing factor.9 L-arginine increases uteroplacental blood flow through nitric oxide mediated dilatation of vessels thereby increasing the supply of nutrients to the fetus aiding its growth.

In a study by Ropacka et al, L-arginine was found to be effective in cases of Intrauterine growth restriction.¹⁰ Similarly in another study in growth restricted and pre-eclamptic patients by Dera et al, use of L-arginine was associated with lower rate of operative deliveries and higher Apgar scores at both 1 and 5 minutes.¹¹

Nabhan and Abdelmoula, in their Cochrane review which included five randomized controlled trials comprising 3226 women, found that with AFI of <5 cm, there were more induction rates, higher induction failures, more cesarean deliveries for fetal distress without much difference in NICU admission rates, and improved perinatal outcome.¹² They opined that lower cut offs such as 3rd percentile (equal to AFI of 4) or single deepest vertical pocket (less than 2 cm) used for definition of oligohydramnios may be more benificial.

In an ovine study with maternal fluid overloading, it was reported that a reduction of maternal fetal osmotic gradient facilitated water transfer to the fetus, leading to an increase in fetal urine production.¹³

Nitric oxide (NO) is an important regulator of placental perfusion, as it plays a role in placental vascular endothelial function. NO is synthesized from the physiologic precursor l-arginine by the stereospecific enzyme NO synthase in what is called the l-arginine/NO pathway, and l-arginine is the only substrate for the production of NO.¹⁴ NO diffuses into the underlying vascular smooth muscle cells and mediates vasodilatation and platelet stabilization by a cyclic GMP-dependent process.¹⁵

It is not known whether an improvement of endogenous NO production could enhance fetal growth. NO-induced vasodilation in renal vessels may improve glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and thereby enhance fetal urine production.

Abida Ahmad studied the effect of intravenous infusion of 200 ml of aminoacids and 500 ml of 10% fructodex on alternate day basis in 20 clinically and sonographically proven cases of oligohydramnos.

Sreedharan et al. studied the effect of l-arginine in 100 women diagnosed to have oligoamnios between 28 and 36 weeks of gestation.¹⁶ The expectant mothers were prescribed sachets of l-arginine containing 3 g of the active ingredient for periods varying between 1 and 4 weeks. There was significant improvement in AFI (by 2.03 ± 0.39 cm), and they opined that l-arginine can be used as a cheaper alternative to ultrasoundguided amnioinfusion in pregnancy complicated by low liquor remote from term.

Shripad Hebbar et al studied the effect of Maternal hydration and L-arginine supplementation in improving liquor volume in patients with decreased liquor and prolongs pregnancy.¹⁷ Treatment with l-arginine and fructodex resulted in significant improvement in liquor mean increase in AFI was found to be 2.4 and mean increase in gestational age was 2.9 weeks in their study.

In our study the mean duration of treatment was 2.36 ± 0.54 weeks which was similar to study by Anita Soni et al in which duration of therapy in study was 2.4 ± 1.1 weeks¹⁸ Therefore, studies recommend the supplementation of L-arginine and antioxidants in pregnancy to maintain the levels of NO so as to facilitate the required vasodilatation and have a beneficial role in the fatal growth.

In our study, the mean AFI at the time of recruitment was 4.95 cm and the mean gestational age was 32.28+/-0.54 weeks. Prior to delivery, these patients were delivered at 35.4 ± 1.5 weeks, and thus, pregnancy could be prolonged by 3.12 weeks.

Conclusion

Management of pregnancy less than 36 weeks of gestational age with oligohydramnios is a challenging situation. To avoid preterm labor, induction of labour and to prevent its serious consequences for the mother and newborn, therapeutic intervention is desirable to prolong the pregnancy, so that risks of prematurity are minimized and the obstetrician buys time to administer steroid prophylaxis. Keeping in mind the cost of rearing preterm baby in NICU, oral l-arginine can be used as a cheap and feasible method in resource-poor countries.

REFERENCE

- Underwood MA, Gilbert WM, Sherman MP. Amniotic Fluid: not just fetal urine anymore. J PERINATOL 2005 May; 25(5): 341-348
- Phelan JP ah Mo Smith CV et alamniotic fluid index measurements duringpregenacy J. Reprod Med 1989; 32: 601-604.
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Davis TA, Kim SW, Li P, Rhoads JM, Satterfield MC, Smith SB, Spencer TE, et al. Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. Amino Acids. 2009; 37: 153–168.
- 4. Wu G, Morris SM, Jr. Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J. 1998; 336
- 5. Saxena P. International Journal of gynecology and obstetrics India 2005; 8(5); 21-24.
- Viviana DP, Giuseppe C and Fabio F. Clinical use of nitric oxide donors and L-arginine in obstetric. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine 2007; 20 (8): 569-579.
- 7. Xiao XM and Li LP. L-Arginine treatment for asymmetric fetal growth restriction. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2005;
- Thureen PJ, Baron KA, Fennessey PV and Hay Jr WW. Ovine placental and fetal arginine metabolism at normal and increased maternal plasma arginine concentrations. Pediatr Res. 2002; 51: 464
- Palmer RM, Ashton DS, Moncada S. Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. Nature 1988; 333: 664-666.
- Ropacka M, Kowalska J, Blumska-Hepner K, Markwitz W, Bręborowicz GH. Effect of L-arginine on fetal outcome in IUGR fetuses. Arch Perinat Med 2007;13:30-34.

- 11. Dera A, Ropacka M, Kowalska J, Markwitz W, Nycz P, Bręborowicz GH. The effect of L-arginine treatment on the neonatal outcome from pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction and gestational hypertension. Arch Perinat Med 2007; 13: 35-39.
- 12. Nabhan AF, Abdelmoula YA. Amniotic fluid index versussingle deepest vertical pocket as a screening test for preventingadverse pregnancy outcome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008; 3 : CD006593.
- Nijland MJ, Ross MG, Kullama LK, Bradley K, Ervin MG. DDAVP induced maternal hypo osmolality increases ovine fetalurine flow. Am J Physiol 1995: 268; 358-365.
- Lampariello C, De Blasio A, Merenda A, Graziano E,Michalopoulou A, Bruno P. Use of L-arginine in intrauterinegrowth retardation (IUGR): Authors' experience. Minerva Ginecol 1997; 49: 577-581.
- 15. Staff AC, Berge L, Haugen G, Lorentzen B, Mikkelsen B, Henriksen T. Dietary supplementation with L-arginine or placeboin women with pre-eclam-psia. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2004; 83: 103-107
- Sreedharan R, Jajoo S. Effect of L-arginine on amniotic fluidindex in oligohydramnios. Int J Reprod Contracept Obst Gynecol 2013; 2: 80-82.
- 17. Shripad Hebbar, Lavanya Rai, Prashant Adiga. Maternal hydration and L-arginine supplementation improves liquor volume in patients with decreased liquor and prolongs pregnancy. Medical Journal of Dr. D.Y. Patil University; July-August 2014; Vol 7; Issue 4. 161.
- Anita Soni, Seeru Garg, Khushboo Patel, Zarna Patel. Role of L-Arginine in Oligohydramnios The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology of India (September–October 2016) 66 (S1): S279–S283.

Case Report - Obstetrics

A Rare Case of Spontaneous Prelabour Fundal Rupture of Unscarred Uterus in a Multigravida at 34 Weeks of Pregnancy

Nishat Parveen Begg,¹ Swarup Chowdhury,² Sima Biswas,³ Subhankar Dasgupta,⁴ Picklu Chaudhuri⁵

Introduction:

Uterine rupture can be complete when all the layers of uterine wall are separated, or incomplete when the uterine muscle is separated but the visceral peritoneum is intact.¹ There are several risk factors for uterine rupture with the most common being separation of a previous hysterotomy/classical cesarean scar. Other risks factors include trauma, injury, prior myomectomy or other uterine surgeries, or uterine anomalies.² Blunt trauma results in uterine rupture in < 1 % of severe cases (American College of Obstetritians and Gynaecologists, 2010). Rupture is more likely in a previously scarred uterus and is usually associated with a direct impact of substantial force.³ Spontaneous nonobstructive rupture, which is rare and solely confined to high parous women, usually involves the upper segment and often involves the fundus. Whereas in obstructive type, the rupture involves the anterior lower segment transversely

- RMO cum Clinical Tutor, Department of G & O, Rampurhat Govt Medical College and Hospital, Rampurhat, Birbhum
- 4. Associate Professor, Department of G &O, Rampurhat Govt Medical College and Hospital, Rampurhat, Birbhum
- Professor and HOD, Department of G& O, Rampurhat Govt Medical College and Hospital, Rampurhat, Birbhum Corresponding author: #

and often extends upwards along the lateral uterine wall.⁴ We are hereby reporting a case of spontaneous prelabor uterine rupture at the fundus in a G7P2+4 patient at 34 weeks gestation.

Case Report

Mrs S B, 28 year old, residing at Pakur, Jharkhand was admitted at 34 weeks of pregnancy with features of shock on 3/11/2019. She was G7 P 2+4 with vaginal deliveries, 3 years and 1 year back and 4 induced abortion followed by dilatation and curettage. She had no prior antenatal check ups and no investigations were done. On 3/11/2019, she went to the toilet on getting up from bed when she experienced sudden acute pain in the abdomen and dizziness. There was no history of trauma or bleeding per vagina. She was brought to the emergency in a semiconcious state. Her BP, on admission was 80/40 mmHg, pulse rate 130/min, and she was severely pale. Uterine contour was lost with superficial fetal parts with severe diffuse tenderness all over abdomen. Fetal heart sound could not be localised with stethoscope or Doppler. On vaginal examination, her os was closed and she was not in labour. After simultaneous resuscitation patient was prepared for a laparotomy. On laparotomy, about 1.5 lts blood mixed with amniotic fluid with a dead fetus was found floating in the abdominal cavity. There was a fundal rupture of the uterus (Figure 1 and Figure 2). Decision of obstetric hysterectomy was taken because the damage was irrepairable and

^{1.} Senior Resident, Department of G & O, Rampurhat Govt Medi-cal College and Hospital, Rampurhat, Birbhum

^{2.} Assistant Professor, Department of G & O, Rampurhat Govt Medical College and Hospital, Rampurhat, Birbhum



Figure 1



Figure 2

abdomen was closed after putting an intra-abdominal drain. The fresh stillborn weighed 1.9 kg. During intra operative and post operative period 3 units of blood were transfused. Patient was discharged in stable condition on the 10th postoperative day.

Discussion

The predisposing factors of uterine rupture are scarred uterus, multi-party, multiple pregnancies, big babies, the injudicious use of oxytocics, contracted pelvis, malpresentation, internal podalic version and instrumental deliveries. In our case we think following multiple epi-sodes of curettage, there must have been a weak area at the fundus which had healed on its own with a scar formation. The scar had given way at 34 weeks without any obvious trauma or uterine contraction leading to a fundal rupture of the uterus.

There has been reported case of silent uterine fundal ruptures in a 36 yr old, grand multipara (G7P6) presenting with vaginal bleeding and intrauterine fetal death and sonographic apperance of placenta covering internal os in a hemodynamically stable condition at 36 weeks. Fundal rupture was found on laparotomy.⁵

Fundal rupture uterus in women with previous curretage has also been reported in a 35 yr old G2 P 1+1, with one vaginal twin delivery 12 yrs back and one dilatation and curettage for MTP, presenting with IUFD at 34 weeks, posing diagnostic dilemma and diagnosis was delayed till she became hemodynamically unstable.⁶

Literature review even shows a few rare cases of primigravida without any obvious risk factor presented with spontneous unscarred prelabor rupture of uterus. Due to low index of suspicion in primigravid rupture of uterus, the diagnosis was often delayed. The intervention was mostly done when evidence of fetal or maternal compromise occurred and preservation of uterus was mandated.⁷

In our case considering the fact that she is multigravid and hemodynamically unstable, the intervention was immediate and decision for hysterectomy was obvious.

Conclusion

Spontaneous antepartum fundal rupture of uterus before onset of labor are rare and symptoms and

signs may widely vary posing diagnostic dillema. However, the diagosis should be always considered in muligravida with history of termination of pregnancy as timely intervention can be life saving.

REFERENCE

- Gary CF (2010) Prior Cesarean Delivery: Uterine Rupture, Williams Obstetrics. (24th edn), McGraw-Hill Professional, New York.
- John QT, Spong CY, Lockwood CJ (2012). Queenan's Management of High-risk Pregnancy: An Evidence-based Approach. Vaginal Birth after Cesarean Section, West Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.
- 3. Gary CF (2010) Critical Care and Trauma: Uterine Rupture, Wil-liams Obstetrics. (24th edn), McGraw-Hill Professional, New York.
- Dutta D C(2018). Injuries to the Birth Canal. Textbook of Obstetrics (9 th edn), Jaypee The Health Sciences Publisher.

- 5. Tigga M P. Silent uterine rupture: Resident's dilemma and lessons learnt. J Postgrad Med 2019;65:127-8
- 6. Misra M, Roychowdhury R, Sarkar NC, Koley MM.The Spontaneous Prelabour Rupture of An unscarred Uterus at 34 Weeks of Pregnancy. 2013;7(3):548-549. J Clin and Diagn Res.
- Zhao Y, Tian B, Xu Y, Dai H. Spontaneous prelabour unscarred Uterine rupture in Primigravida: a case report and review of literature. Int J Clin Exp Med 2017;10(4):7269-7303.

Clinical Article - Gynecology

Etiological Factors of Irregular Periods in Young Women in a Semi Urban Tertiary Care Hospital of West Bengal, India

Sukumar Barik,¹ Farheen Faruque²

Abstract

Objectives: To find out the causes of menstrual irregularities in young women attending gynecology clinic.

Materials and Methods: This cross sectional study included 150 women aged 15-25 years attending single consultant-led gynaecology clinic of this semi urban tertiary care hospital. We excluded women who attended emergency, those with pregnancy complications, with diagnosed anatomical abnormalities and with previously diagnosed haematological problems. All the patients underwent clinical examination, analysis of the specified hormonal status and ultrasonography of the whole abdomen.

Results: The data from our study showed that 57.3% of women with menstrual dysfunction have only polycystic ovary syndrome according to Rotterdam criteria, 22% had normal findings suggesting only anovulation without any known cause, 10.6% had polycystic ovary syndrome with hyperprolactinemia, 2% had only hyperprolactinemia, 2% had subclinical hypothyroidism and 0.66% had premature ovarian insufficiency and hypothyroidism.

Conclusions: Polycystic ovary syndrome alone or along with hyperprolactinemia and /or hypothyroidism remains the main cause for menstrual abnormality in young women. Basic hormone analysis and ultrasonography will promptly diagnose these conditions leading to early and appropriate management. Polycystic ovarian syndrome and its association with overweight also need significant attention.

Key words: menstrual irregularities, young women, polycystic ovary syndrome.

Introduction:

Menstrual disorders are common in young women attending gynecological clinic.¹ Acyclic vaginal

1. Associate Professor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, ICARE Institute of Medical Sciences and Research, Haldia; Consultant Obstetrician and Gynecologist, Narayana Multispecialty Hospital, Andul Road, Howrah

2. Consultant Obstetrician and Gynecologist, Narayana Multispecialty Hospital, Andul Road, Howrah Corresponding author: sukumarbarik1@gmail.com bleeding in girls within two years of menarche is most commonly attributed to an immature hypothalamicpituitary-ovarian axis. Persistent heavy periods, persistent irregular periods causing disruption of daily routines or persistence of menstrual abnormality two years post-menarche may be because of other abnormalities which needs evaluation.

A significant proportion of menstrual abnormality persisting two years post menarche may be because

of polycystic ovary syndrome alone^{1,2} or with other endocrine abnormalities.

Early detection will not only be helpful for short term management but also may prevent medium term problems and long term problems. It may alleviate the significant anxiety among the patient and their parents.³

Objectives:

To find out the causes of menstrual irregularities in young women attending gynaecology clinic in semi urban hospital settings.

Materials and Methods:

This was a cross sectional study of prospectively collected data. The study had included 150 women aged between 15-25 years attending single consultantled gynaecology clinic of a semi urban tertiary care hospital. The study was conducted from January 2016 to December 2019, a period of 48 months.

Inclusion criteria:

- 1) Age -15 years to 25 years.
- 2) Presenting symptoms irregular periods, excessive hair growth or both.
- 3) Menarche more than two years ago.
- 4) No history of previous pregnancy.

Exclusion criteria:

- 1) Women who attended emergency with heavy periods.
- 2) Women with pregnancy complications.
- 3) Women less than two years after menarche.
- 4) Women with diagnosed anatomical uterine abnormalities.
- 5) Women with previously diagnosed haematological problems.
- 6) Women already receiving progesterone or oestrogen progesterone combinations.
- 7) Women on metformin or myo- inositols.
- 8) Women on anti obesity medications.
- 9) Women on aspirin or anticoagulants.
- 10) Women with any surgical interventions in genital tract.

All patients underwent clinical examination including general and systemic examinations. Local examination was not done. All women underwent complete hemogram, blood group and Rhesus status estimation, fasting blood sugar estimation. They also had estimation of day three follicle stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, thyroid function test, fasting prolactin estimation. All women had transabdominal ultrasonography of the whole abdomen by a consultant ultrasonologist with experience of more than two decades.

Results:

The data from our study showed that 57.3% of women with menstrual dysfunction have only polycystic ovary syndrome according to Rotterdam criteria. 10.6% had polycystic ovary syndrome with hyperprolactinemia, 2% had only hyperprolactinemia. Another 2% had subclinical hypothyroidism and 0.66% had premature ovarian insufficiency along with hypothyroidism. 22% had normal findings suggesting only anovulation without any detectable cause. (Table 1).

 Table 1. Etiological factors of irregular periods in young women

Etiological factor	Number	Percentage
PCOS	86	57.3
Hypothyroidism	3	2
Hyperprolactinemia	3	2
Premature ovarian insufficiency and hypothyroidism	1	0.66
Normal	33	22
PCOS and hypothyroidism	4	2.6
PCOS and hyperprolactinemia	16	10.6
PCOS and hypothyroidism and hyperprolactinemia	3	2
Hypothyroidism and hyperprolactinemia	1	0.66
Premature ovarian insufficiency	0	0

Of 109 patients whom PCOs was diagnosed, 86 (78.8%) patient showed only PCOS, 4 (3.6%) patient detected to have PCOS and hypothyroidism, 16 (14.6%) patients have PCOS and hyperprolactinemia, and 3 (2.7%) patient had PCOS and hypothyroidism and hyperprolactinemia (Table 2).

Table 2. Subgroup analysis of etiological factors among women with PCOS

Causes	Number	percentage
PCOS	86	78.8
PCOS and hypothyroidism	4	3.6
PCOS and hyperprolactinemia	16	14.6
PCOS and hypothyroidism and hyperprolactinemia	3	2.7

Phenotype A (hyperandrogenism, ovulatory dysfunction, polycystic ovarian morphology) was found in 19 (17.43%) women, phenotype B (hyperandrogenism and ovulatory dysfunction) was found in 12 (11%) women, phenotype C was not found, phenotype D was found in 78 (71.5%) cases (Table 3).

Table 3.	PCO	phenotypes
		p

Туре		Number	Percentage
A	Hyperandrogenism, ovulatory dysfunction, polycystic ovarian morphology	19	17.43
В	Hyperandrogenism, ovulatory dysfunction	12	11
С	Hyperandrogenism, polycystic ovarian morphology	0	0
D	ovulatory dysfunction, polycystic ovarian morphology	78	71.5

BMI was calculated according to WHO criteria for Asians. In the women diagnosed with PCOS (109 women), One woman (0.91%) was underweight, BMI were normal in 34 (31.1%) women, overweight in 30 (27.5%) women, pre obese in 33 (30.2%) women, Obese type 1 in11(10.09%) women , no women was in obese type 2 or obese type 3. In the non PCOS group (41 women) BMI was normal in 18 women (43.9%), overweight in 16 women (39.02%), preobese in 7 women (17.07%) (Table 4).

 Table 4.
 Weight of the PCOS and Non-PCOS women (WHO Asian criteria)

Class	PCOS (Number)	PCOS (%)	Non-PCOS (Number)	Non-PCOS (%)
Underweight	1	0.91	0	0
Normal	34	31.1	18	43.9
Overweight	30	27.5	16	39.02
Preobese	33	30.2	7	17.03
Obese Type1	11	10.09	0	0
Obese Type2	0	0	0	0
Obese Type3	0	0	0	0

Discussions:

Our study at West Bengal, India showed Polycystic ovary syndrome is the commonest cause of irregular periods in young women. Out of 150 women, PCOS was found as the main diagnosis in 109 cases (72.6%). Our study revealed a higher incidence of PCOS than the study by Chabbra et al¹ may be because of strict inclusion criteria or may be due to geographical variation or semi urban study population. Our study also revealed that sometimes PCOS may be associated with hyperprolactinemia. Estimation of prolactin is very important as 14.6% of cases PCOS was associated with hyperprolactinemia. Our study is very similar to Filho RB et al 4 and Kyritgi EM et al.⁵ interestingly this study mentioned a cut off level over which pituitary adenoma was diagnosed. However, our study did not reveal high level of prolactin in any of the cases.

One of the limitations of this observation is that, only in one fourth of cases routine PEG precipitation was done (not all laboratory perform PEG precipitation routinely). As we know that macroprolactin may be one of the important causes for elevated level of prolactin level. The prevalence of macroprolactinemia in hyperprolactinemic populations varies between 15% and 35% according to Kasum M et al.⁶ So these findings should be interpreted with caution.

Subclinical hypothyroidism alone was detected in 2% of cases, PCOS and associated hypothyroidism was detected in 4.6% cases. Considering the high overall prevalence of subclinical hypothyroidism in general female population in India,^{7,8} thyroid function test should be performed routinely in women presented with irregular periods. Although only estimation of thyroid stimulating hormone will be enough in most cases, we found estimation of thyroid function test may be more cost effective. However opinion varies in this issue.

Interestingly hypothyroidism and hyperprolactinemia was found in 0.66% cases.

Many authorities do not recommend routine estimation of early follicular phase FSH and LH.⁹

However routine estimation of Day three FSH and LH has several benefits. Firstly, a small number of premature ovarian insufficiencies can be detected early. Secondly disproportionately high LH gives out a small clue about the potential therapeutic area in midterm problems of PCOS line fertility problem.¹⁰

Our study revealed that in this population 78 out of total 109 cases of PCOS (71.5%) were in phenotype D. Phenotype A was found in 19 (17.43%) cases and phenotype B was found in 12 (11%) women. This was in contrast to the findings of other studies.^{11,12,13}

Although this study was conducted in a semi urban hospital it was interesting to find a significant number of overweight and obese women both in PCOS group and non PCOS group. Our finding revealed that PCOS group was associated with BMI above normal in overall 67.79% of women. A recent study also revealed that 61% of women with PCOS were overweight.¹⁴ These findings indicate that the problem of overweight in women with is no longer limited to urban areas.

- 1. Chhabra S, Venkatraman S. Menstrual dysfunction in rural young women and the presence of polycystic ovarian syndrome. J Obstet Gynaecol 2010; 30: 41 45.
- Ganie MA, Rashid A, Sahu D, Nisar S, Wani IA, Khan J. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) among reproductive age women from Kashmir valley: A cross –sectional study. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2020 May; 149(2):231-236.
- 3. Nidhi R, Padmalatha V, Nagarathna R, Amritanshu R. Prevalence of polycystic ovarian syndrome in Indian adolescents. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2011; 24: 223-227.
- Filho RB, Domingues L, Naves L, Ferraz, Alves, Casulari LA. Polycystic ovary syndrome and hyperprolactinemia are distinct entities. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2007: 23: 267-272.
- Kyritsi EM, Dimitriadis GK, Angelousi A, Mehta H, Shad A, Mytilinaiou M, Kaltsas G, Randeva HS. The value of prolactin in predicting prolactinoma in hyperprolactinaemic polycystic ovarian syndrome. Eur J Clin Invest. 2018:48:e12961.
- Kasum M, Pavicic Baldani D, Stanic P et al. Importance of macroprolactinemia in hyperprolactinemia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2014; 183:28-32.
- Sinha U, Sinharay K, Saha S, Longkumer TA, and Baul SN, Pal SK. Thyroid disorders in polycystic ovarian syndrome subjects: A tertiary hospital based cross-sectional study from Eastern India. Indian Journal Endocrinol Metab 2013; 17:304-309.

Conclusions:

Polycystic ovary syndrome alone or along with hyperprolactinemia and /or hypothyroidism remains the main cause for menstrual abnormality in young women. Basic hormone analysis and ultrasonography will promptly diagnose these conditions leading to early and appropriate management. A significant percentage of women with PCOS and non PCOS women have above average weight which may be a cause for concern.

REFERENCE

- 8. Rajiwade SR, Sagili H, Soundravally R, Subitha L. Endocrine abnormalities in adolescents with menstrual disorders . J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2018; 68:58-64.
- Fitz M, Speroff L (Eds). Clinical gynecologic endocrinology and infertility. Eight editions. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. 2013.
- Malini NA, Roy George K. Evaluation of different ranges of LH: FSH ratios in polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) – clinical based case control study. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 2018; 260: 51-57.
- 11. Ganie MA, Marwaha RK, Dhingra A, Nisar S, Mani K, Masoodi S, Chakraborty S, Rashid A. Observation of phenotypic variation among Indian women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) from Delhi and Srinagar. Gyneol Endocrinol 2016; 32: 566-570.
- 12. Lizneva D, Suturrina L, Walker W, Brakta S, Gavrilova Jordan L, Azziz R. Criteria, prevalence, and phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2016; 106: 6-15.
- 13. Sachdeva G, Gainder S, Suri V, Sachdeva N, Chopra S. Comparison of the different PCOS phenotypes based on metabolic, and hormonal profile, and their response to clomiphene. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 2019; 23: 326-331.
- 14. Nayak PK , Mitra S , Sahoo J, Mahapatra E, Agrawal S, Lone Z. Relationship of subclinical hypothyroidism and obesity in polycystic ovarian syndrome patients. J Family Med Prim Care 2020; 9:147-150.

Spontaneous First Trimester Anterior Uterine Rupture in a Multiparous Woman with Scarred Uterus

Swayamsiddha Mohanty,¹ Radhakanta Panigrahi,² Ramanjamma Madagani,³ Maya Padhi⁴

Abstract

Uterine rupture in the first trimester of pregnancy or even in the early second trimester is very rare. Most uterine rupture occur in the third trimester at the onset of the contractions and mainly in a previously scarred uterus. The incidence of uterine rupture is 1 in 4,800 deliveries in developed countries and the rupture of an unscarred uterus is a few as 1 in 10,000-15,000 birth.² The greatest risk factor for either form of rupture is a prior cesarean delivery or other myometrial surgical incision. Other risk factors include grand multiparity, trauma, malpresentation, obstructed labour, misuse of uterotonic drugs, particularly for sequential labour induction.^{2,3} Considering the rarity of uterine rupture in the first trimester of pregnancy, we present a rare case of uterine rupture at 10 weeks of gestation in a 24-year-old woman with a history of one prior cesarean section.

Introduction

Uterine rupture (UR) is a life threatening peripartum complications that can occur during any trimester of pregnancy. It carries a high a rate of morbidity and mortality for both the mother and her foetus. Presence of uterine scar is the main risk factor for either lower segment scar as cs section⁴ or upper segment scar as myomectomy,⁵ cornual section or previous repair of UR.⁶ First trimester UR is rare and the actual incidence of occurrence in the literature is

```
Corresponding author email: swayam.dr@gmail.com
```

unclear. The risk is increased in multi para with short pregnancy interval⁷ misoprostol used in termination of pregnancy,⁸ Mullerian anomalies and presence of uterine scar.⁹

Hemoperitoneum is defined as collection of blood in the peritoneal cavity due to non traumatic or non iatrogenic cause. In the first trimester most of cases of hemoperitoneum are associated with disturbed ectopic pregnancy.¹⁰ So UR is rarely suspected based on the clinical presentation of patients in early pregnancy. Maternal consequences of UR are hemorrhage, hypovolemic shock, bladder injury, needs for hysterectomy and maternal death.¹¹

Case:

On October 2019, a 24-year-old gravida 2 paral pregnant woman at gestational age of 10 weeks (based on her last menstrual period) was presented to the

^{1.} Senior Resident, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, SCB Medical College & Hospital, Cuttack

^{2.} Assistant Professor, Department of obstetrics & Gynaecology, SCB Medical College & Hospital, Cuttack

^{3.} Post Graduate, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, SCB Medical College & Hospital, Cuttack

^{4.} Professor, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, SCB Medical College & Hospital, Cuttack

labour room of our tertiary care hospital. The patient had acute onset severe lower abdominal pain with 2 episodes of vomiting. She had a history of caeserian section two years back. There was no history of other uterine surgery or procedure or any history of trauma. she had no antenatal visits and only proof of pregnancy was her positive home urinary pregnancy test.

On general examination the patient was pale, blood pressure was 90/60 mmHg, tachycardia (PR=118/ min). Generalised tenderness and rebounding was noted all over her abdomen. Vaginal examination revealed a very tender enlarged uterus with mild vaginal bleeding and tenderness in the left fornix. Neither adnexa was palpable.

Urgent abdominal ultrasound revealed a bulky empty uterus with marked free intraperitoneal fluid collection. No gestational sac or fetal pole was seen. Hematological examination showed haemoglobin (Hb) level of 6.5 gm/dl. The patient was counselled concerning the possibility of ruptured ectopic pregnancy and informed consent for abdominal exploration was obtained.

Exploratory laparotomy through Pfannensteil incision was performed under general anaesthesia with one unit of blood. Marked free blood collection and blood clots were noted in the peritoneal cavity with around 2L blood being evacuated from peritoneal cavity. Evaluation of both tubes revealed no enlarged masses with intact serosa. Both ovaries were normal. However, on exteriornisation of uterus we discovered a scar rupture with active bleeding. The gestational sac with the fetus inside was present in the Douglas pouch covered with blood clots.

Repair was done by absorbable suture in two layers till hemostasis was achieved. The patient was given 2 units of packed RBC and 3 units of fresh frozen plasma. Intarperitoneal drain was left and the abdomen was closed after confirming hemostasis. The patient had smooth recovery from anaesthesia and her postoperative haemoglobin was 9 gm/dl and hospital stay was uneventful.

Discussion:

Uterine rupture accounts for 14% of all hemorrhagerelated maternal mortality. Most often, uterine rupture occurs in the third trimester of pregnancy, during labor, or mainly in a previously scarred uterus because of the fibrosis of the myometrium at the scar. Its occurrence in early pregnancy is very rare even in the presence of predisposing risk factors.¹²

At term and near-term pregnant women, especially in the setting of a trial of labor after prior cesarean delivery, careful and close monitoring of both mother and fetus can help in its timely diagnosis. Abnormal labor progress, abnormal abdominal pain, vaginal bleeding, loss of station of presenting part, maternal tachycardia, and fetal bradycardia are indicative factors for detecting uterine rupture.¹ However, in early pregnancy, especially without the presence of any predisposing risk factors, the diagnosis may occur with latency or may never be detected; leading to lifethreatening complications. Furthermore, signs and symptoms of uterine rupture in the early trimester are non-specific.^{13,14}

Although the presence of previous uterine scar has been described as the main cause of uterine rupture,^{2,12} some recent studies have reported abnormal placentation (accrete, increta, and percreta) as the most common underlying etiology even in early pregnancy.^{14,15}

A review of 15 cases of uterine rupture in the first trimester of pregnancy showed that the most common causes were placenta percreta.¹⁶ Considering a worldwide increase in the cesarean delivery rate, such an outcome was anticipated.

In most reported cases of uterine rupture in early pregnancy, patients were presented with acute abdominal pain and shock. This might be due to untimely diagnosis or, in most cases, the involvement of the fundus. It seems that despite the difficulty of detecting uterine rupture in early pregnancy, most ruptures can be repaired. The majority of the reviewed studies indicated two main causes of uterine rupture, namely abnormal placenta invasion and previous cesarean scar. This, combined with an increasing rate of cesarean sections worldwide, highlights the need for a high degree of clinical suspicion in early diagnosis of uterine rupture.

Conclusion:

Awareness of probable diagnosis of uterine rupture in pregnant women with abdominal pain is important for timely diagnosis and proper management; even in the early gestational age of pregnancies and in the absence of known risk factors.









- 1. USG
- 2. USG1
- 3. Lt ovary and tube
- 4. Rt ovary and tube
- 5. Previous CS scar rupture

REFERENCES

- Revicky V, Muralidhar A, Mukhopadhyay S, Mahmood T. A Case Series of Uterine Rupture: Lessons to be Learned for Future Clinical Practice. J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2012; 62: 665–73.
- Cunningham FG, Leveno KJ, Bloom SL, Spong CY, Dashe JS, et al. Obstetrical hemorrhage. In: Cunningham FG, Gant NF, Leveno KJ, Gilstrap III LC, Hauth JC, Wenstrom KD. Williams obstetrics. 24th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2014. pp. 617-8,790–2.
- Al-Zirqi I, Daltveit AK, Forsen L, Stray-Pedersen B, Vangen S. Risk factors for complete uterine rupture. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017; 216: 165.
- J.G. Smith, H.L. Mertz, D.C. merrill, Identifying risk factors for uterine rupture, Clin perinatal. 35 (2008) 85-99
- P. Hagnere, I denoual, A. Souissi, S. Deswarte, spontaneous uterine rupture after myomectomy. Case report and review literature, J. Gyneccol. Obstet. Biol. Reprod. 440 (2011) 162-165.
- A.M. Abbass, F.M. Fawzy, M.N. Ali, M.K. Ali, An unusual case uterine rupture at 39 weeks of gestation after laparoscopic cornual resection: a case report, Middle east Fertili. Soc. J. 21 (3) (2016), 196-198
- A.M. Abbas, A.M. Sheha, M Abdallah, S Abdallah, M Bahaa First Trimester spontaneous rupture of an unscarred uterus in a multiparous woman: a case report, Proc. Obstet. Gynecol, 7 (1) (2017) 7
- 8. A.M. Abbas, A.M. Sheha, R.S. Hussein, E. Talaat, M.N. Ali first trimester rupture of a scarred uterus

after use of sub lingual misoprostol: a case report, Proc. Obstet. Gynecol, 6 (2) (2016) 5.

- F. Gardeil, S. Daly, M.J. Turner, uterine rupture in pregnancy reviewed, Eur. J Obstet. Gynecolreprod. Biol. 56 (1994) 107-110
- M. Agdi, T. Tulandi, surgical treatment of ectopic pregnancy, Best practice, Res. clin. Obstet Gynecol 23 (2009) 519-523
- 11. P. Veena, S. Habeebullah, L. Chaturvedula, Review of 93 case of ruptured uterus over a period of two year in a tertiary care hospital in South India. J. Obstet Gynecol 32 (2012) 260-263.
- Abbas AM, Hussein RS, Ali MN, Shahat MA, Mahmoud AR. Spontaneous first trimester posterior uterine rupture in a multiparous woman with scarred uterus: A case report. Middle East Fertil Soc J. 2018; 23: 81–3.
- J Sun HD, Su WH, Chang WH, Wen L, Huang BS, Wang PH. Rupture of a pregnant unscarred uterus in an early secondary trimester: a case report and brief review. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2012; 38: 442–5.
- 14. Ho W, Wang C, Hong S, Han H. Spontaneous Uterine Rupture in the Second Trimester: a Case Report. Obstet Gynecol Int J. 2017;6:00211.
- Farooq F, Siraj R, Raza S, Saif N. Spontaneous Uterine Rupture Due to Placenta Percreta in a 17-Week Twin Pregnancy. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2016;26:121– 3.
- Bandarian M, Bandarian F. Spontaneous rupture of the uterus during the 1st trimester of pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;35:199–200.



OBITUARY

Dr. Ajit Chamanlal Mehta

(06.03.1930 - 06.06.2020)

Ajit C. Mehta was born to Dr. Chamanlal Mehta and Kusum Mehta, in Mumbai on 06.03.1930.

He was an alumni of the Seth G. S. Medical College and KEM Hospital, Mumbai and did his post-graduate training at KEM Hospital, Nowrosjee Wadia Maternity Hospital (NWMH), and Tata Memorial Hospital. He later joined NWMH as a Consultant. Later on he become the Dean of this prestigious institution. He considered NWMH as "The Temple of Learning" throughout his term of 39 years (1961 – 1999).

Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology (ISOPARB) was established by Prof. (Dr.) Tarun Banerjee of Calcutta. Dr Ajit Mehta joined ISOPARB when the organization was young. He took keen interest in the organization of ISOPARB. He soon became the President of the organization. He initiated in organizing many ISOPARB Conferences. Once he was so deeply involved with ISOPARB that he was ready to donate some space at his own hospital for this organization to have its office.

Dr. Ajit Mehta was actively involved with National Neonatology Forum (NNF). For years there were joint annual meetings of ISOPARB – NNF.

Dr. Ajit Mehta was much respected in his field. His special interests were preventive Obstetrics, Gynecology and Perinatology. He was also the President of the Mumbai Obstetrics and Gynecological Society and was actively involved with FOGSI where he reached the position of Secretary General.

He was a teacher par excellence and won the hearts of all the residents who worked under him.

As a Dean of Nowrosjee Wadia Maternity Hospital he introduced many reforms in the interest of the Residents and patients. Dr. Mehta had a keen interest in research and after retiring as dean he was appointed as director of the research wing of NWMH. He initiated the computerized records of all patients delivering at NWMH. He designed a software for analyzing the data of the patients for benefits of the residents.

He was the recipient of several prestigious awards and orations by National and International organizations.

In personal life he was very simple, humble and a true gentleman. He was fond of reading and writing. He has published two books of his poems titled "Unfolding Life" and wrote a book on the story of NWMH as known and understood by him. He was an ardent "Bridge" player, and almost every weekend with his wife Rasilaben spent time at their farm in which nature abounds and peace prevails.

Dr. Ajit Mehta breathed his last at his residence on 06.06.20 after a brief illness.

He is survived by his wife Rasilaben, two daughters and a son.

May his soul rest in peace.

AN APPEAL !

DONATE GENEROUSLY FOR IJOPARB JOURNAL

Cheques / Demand Draft to be drawn in favour of Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology, payable at Kolkata

Why to Submit in IJOPARB?

- National and International recognition, readership and acceptance.
- Not to wait too long for publication.
- Quality feedback from the expert editors for your improvement.

How to Submit:

Instruction to authros IJOPARB in each issue. Page No. 69

Support to prepare your paper

For any support of composition before submitting article you may contact the IJOPARB Editorial Board.

Email: ijoparb1978@gmail.com

For any more information, please contact Editorial Board

Email: ijoparb1978@gmail.com

BE A LIFE MEMBER

Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology (ISOPARB)

[Affiliated to the Federation of Asia and Oceania Perinatal Societies (FAOPS)]

Website: www.isoparb.org

Members of ISOPARB interested to work in the editorial Board as reviewers, are requested to submit their names with their updated Curriculum Vite to the Editor in Chief. Kindly mention your interest in the subspeciality that you need to be involved (e.g. fetal medicine, oncology, general gynaecology, general obstetrics etc.)

Instruction to Authors

The Journal of Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology which is the official publication of the Indian Society of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology (ISOPARB) invites original research articles in gynaecology / obstetrics / related subjects in the following category: Clinical Articles; Review Articles; and Brief Communications (including Case Reports).

All manuscripts should be prepared according to the guidelines detailed below. Any manuscript that has not been formatted as per the ISOPARB requirements will be returned to the author for correction. All manuscripts should be created and submitted in Word format.

1. SUBMISSION

Authors must submit manuscripts by Email ID – picklu.chaudhuri@gmail.com dr_gita _banerjee@yahoo.co.in hkondr@gmail.com

Hard-copy submissions will not be considered.

Please submit a cover letter to the Editor-in-Chief mentioning the following:

- Each author's name, address, and email address.
- Each author's affiliation and qualifications.
- The name of the author who is to deal with correspondence and proofs.

Once submitted, manuscripts undergo initial screening by the editorial staff and editors and then papers will undergo peer review.

2. Authors must give a separate "Author Guarantee" document mentioning the following:

- that all authors have met the criteria for authorship and have participated sufficiently in the work to take responsibility for it;
- (2) that all authors have reviewed the final version of the manuscript and approve it for submission to the ISOPARB journal.
- (3) that neither this manuscript nor one with substantially similar content by the authors has been published elsewhere or is being considered for publication elsewhere;
- (4) that the manuscript has been submitted with the full knowledge and approval of the institutions or organizations given as the affiliation(s) of the author(s);

- (5) that the authors have informed the editor in a cover letter and in the manuscript itself of any conflicts of interest; and
- (6) that the corresponding author affirms the manuscript to be an honest and transparent account of the study being reported.

In line with ICMJE standards, the criteria for authorship are as follows:

- (1) Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- (2) Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- (3) Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- (4) Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

3. CLINICAL TRIALS AND REVIEW ARTICLES

Clinical trials

Submission of clinical trials must include reference to ethics approval (or explanation of why ethics approval was not received). Authors must consult the CONSORT statement and checklist and submit a CONSORT flow chart as an editable figure in Word/PowerPoi ntformat.

The clinical trial registration is preferable and information should be included at the end of the abstract of the submitted manuscript.

Review articles

Reviews based on the recent and relevant subjects of clinical interest should be considered.

4. LAYOUT OF MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscript text should be in English (US spelling), doublespaced, font size 12, in Arialmmes New Roman font.

First page

The first page of the manuscript should contain the following: (1) title; (2) full names of authors (6 maximum, although listing more authors may be considered on an individual basis if authorship requirements have been met and a request has been included in the cover letter); (3) affiliations of authors (i.e. department, section or unit of

an institution, hospital or organization, city, and country (4) full contact details (postal address. email address) of the corresponding author; (5) a list of up to 8 keywords for indexing and retrieval:

Footnotes linking author names to affiliations should be listed as 1,2,3 etc..

The first page should also list the type of article: Clinical Article; Brief Communication: or Review Article.

Abstract

Clinical Articles

A structured abstract not exceeding 200 words is required for all full-length clinical articles. It should contain all and only the following headings: Objective; Methods; Results; and Conclusion.

The Objective reflects the purpose of the study: that is, the hypothesis that is being tested. The Methods should include the setting for the study, the participants (number and type), the treatment or intervention, and the type of statistical analysis. The Results include the outcome of the study and statistical significance, if appropriate. The Conclusion states the significance of the results.

Review articles

An abstract not exceeding 200 words is required for all review articles.

Narrative reviews require an unstructured abstract. Systematic review articles should have a structured abstract with the headings; Background; Objectives; Search strategy; Selection criteria; Data collection and analysis; Main results; and Conclusions.

Brief communications

Brief communications should not include an abstract.

Main text

In full-length articles, subject matter should be organized under the following headings, with no subheadings: Introduction; Materials and methods; Results; Discussion; Acknowl edgments; Conflicts of interest; and References.

Brief communications should not have any headings separating the text.

Clinical articles

The main text of clinical articles should not exceed 2500 words, excluding the first-page information, abstract (no more than 200 words), author contributions, acknowledgments, Conflicts of interest, references (no more than 15), figure legends, and tables and figures. Please include the word count in the cover letter and on the first page of the manuscript.

Review articles

Review articles should have no more than 3000-3500 words in the main text and 20 references. Please include the

word count in the cover letter and on the first page of the manuscript.

Brief communications

Brief communications should be no more than 400 words, excluding the first-page information, synopsis, keywords, author contributions, acknowledgments, conflicts of interest, references, figure legends, and tables and figures. There should be no more than 4 references and no more than 1 table or 1 figure.

Power calculations, statistics, and reporting of numbers.

Power calculations

Where appropriate (e.g. for clinical trials), power calculations should be performed as part of the study design, and a statement providing the power of the study should be included in the Materials and Methods. Authors should state how the power calculation was determined, including what type of difference the calculation was powered to detect and on what studies the numbers are based.

Statistics

The statistical tests used and the significance level set should be listed in the methods for all studies that employed statistical analysis. Information regarding the statistical software programs used should be included in the methods: for example, "SPSS version 20 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA)." This information should not be included in the reference list.

P values should be provided where calculated. The largest P value that should be expressed is P>0.99. The smallest P value that should be expressed is P<0.001.

For measures of effect (e.g. relative risks, risk ratios, odds ratios), authors should also report confidence intervals (e.g. 95%) so that the precision of the effect estimate can be assessed.

5. Ethics approval and informed consent

Studies of patients, patient records, or volunteers require Ethics Committee approval and informed consent.

Ethics approval

Include a statement in the methods that the research protocol was approved by the relevant Institutional Review Board or Ethics Committee before the study began; if such approval was not needed/obtained, include an explanation. Authors must provide copies of the appropriate documentation if requested.

Informed consent

Include confirmation in the methods that all human participants gave written informed consent before the study began; if consent was not needed/obtained, include an explanation. Authors must provide copies of the appropriate documentation if requested.

6. Acknowledgments

Sources of funding should be acknowledged by the author(s), along with the names of individuals who do not fulfil the criteria for authorshi p, but who have made a substantial contribution to the manuscript.

7. Conflicts of Interest

A conflict-of-interest statement must be included in the cover letter and before the reference list in the manuscript. It should list any relationships (for any author) that may be deemed to Influence the objectivity of the paper and its review, or state that no such relationships exist. Commercial associations, either directly or through immediate family, in areas such as expert testimony, consulting, honoraria, stock holdings, equity interest, ownership, patent-licensing situations or employment that might pose a Conflicts of interest should be stated. Conflicts for other reasons, such as personal relationships or academic competition, should also be stated.

8. References

The number of references should not exceed 15 for clinical articles, 20 for review articles, and 4 for brief communications; in general, they should be limited to the past decade. They must be numbered and listed as they are cited in the article, using Index Medicus abbreviations for journal titles. Cite the names of all authors when there are six or fewer; when there are seven or more, list the first three authors followed by "et al." Include the volume number.

Journal article

[1] Vellacott ID, Cooke EJ, James CE. Nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 1988;27:57-59.

Book

[2] Speroff L, Glass BH, Kase NG. Clinical Gynecologic Endocrinology and Infertility. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins; 1982.

Chapter in a book

[3] Disaia PJ, Creasman WT. Invasive Cancer of the Vulva. In: Disaia PJ, Creasman WT, eds. Clinical Gynecologic Oncology. St Louis: C.V. Mosby; 1984:214-219.

Web reference

 [4] World Health Organization. WHO Recommended Surveillance Standards, Second Edition [WHO website).
 1999. http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/ surveillance/whocdscsrisr992.pdf.

Text references can be indicated by Arabic numerals in superscript. abc^1

Tables

Each table should be titled, numbered (with Arabic numerals), and placed on a separate page after the reference list (not embedded within the main text).

All tables must be cited in numeric order in the main text as "Table 1" etc.

Footnotes to tables should be listed as a, b, c etc.

9. Figures and photographs

Figures and photographs should be submitted as jpg format. CONSORT flow charts should be created and submitted as editable Word/ Power Point files. All figures must be cited in numeric order in the main text as "Figure 1" etc.

Figure permission

All authors wishing to use figures (or any material) that have already been published must first obtain the permission of the original author and publisher and/or copyright holders, in addition to giving precise reference to the original work. This permission must include the right to publish in electronic media. Confirmation should be included in the cover letter (the actual permission correspondence from the copyright holder does not need to be submitted).

Photograph/video consent

If photographs or videos of identifiable people are used, authors must obtain and submit a signed statement of informed consent from the identifiable person(s) or their next of kin. Authors should not try to conceal identity with black bars over eyes etc.

9. Drugs

Give generic names of all pharmaceutical preparations and, where appropriate, include the trade name and manufacturer's name and address. Review drug names and dosages with care. The author is responsible for all recommended dosages.

10. Plagiarism

Plagiarism entails the "use or close imitation of the language and thoughts of another author and the representation of them as one's own original work." Self-plagiarism, a form of misconduct in which an author reuses his/her previously written text, data, or ideas, wholly or in part, without indicating previous dissemination, will also be considered plagiarism. Verbatim copying of sentences, even if a citation is provided (unless the sentence appears in quotation marks), is considered to be plagiarism.

11. ON ACCEPTANCE

If your paper is accepted for publication, you will receive an email informing you of this decision.

12. Copyright

Once accepted and published, all copyright will belong to ISOPARB. No part of the article could be published without permission. All disputes are subjected to Indian Jurisdiction.

13. It is desirable that the, author(s) submitting article in IJOPARB be a member of ISOPARB.

If undelivered, return to: Indian Journal of Perinatology and Reproductive Biology CD-55, Salt Lake City, Sector - 1, Kolkata 700064